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MARK ROSENBLUM, Plaintiff, 

v.  

THOMSON REUTERS (MARKETS) LLC, Defendant. 

13 Civ. 2219 (SAS) 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

Dated: October 25, 2013 

 

OPINION AND ORDER 

SHIRA A. SCHEINDLIN, U.S.D.J.: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

        Mark Rosenblum brings this action against 

his former employer, Thomson Reuters 

("Thomson") for violating Section 21F of the 

Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the "34 

Act") as amended by The Dodd Frank Act, 15 

U.S.C. §78u-6, et seq. ("The Dodd Frank Act" or 

"DFA"). Rosenblum seeks to recover damages 

"as a result of being retaliated against, harassed, 

and ultimately terminated as a result of his 

actions in a 'protected activity' as defined by The 

Dodd Frank Act."1 Thomson now moves to 

dismiss the claim pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a 

claim. For the reasons stated below, the motion 

is denied. 
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II. BACKGROUND2 

        A. Thomson's Product 

        Rosenblum was employed by Thomson 

from 1998 to 2000 and from July 2005 until 

August 2012 as a "Redistribution Specialist" to 

assist the sales team in closing redistribution 

contracts.3 The majority of Rosemblum's work 

was with "Thomson's financial products to firms 

that are not directly involved in managing 

money i.e., YAHOO, Finance, MSN.com, 

CNBC, Fox Business."4 In January 2012, 

Rosenblum learned about Thomson's new 

product "Thomson University of Michigan 

Survey of Consumers" ("the Product"). The 

Product "gauges consumers' attitudes and 

expectations about the U.S. economy and the 

public's attitude about future changes of 

economic expectation."5 

        The University of Michigan, which 

compiled the data for the Product, entered into 

the following contract allowing Thomson to 

release the gathered information in three tiers: 
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It is the understanding of the 

parties that the Data shall be 

released each month as follows: 

1. Thomson will send out the 

Data to Subscribers of its ultra-

low latency distribution 

platform for purposes of 

algorithmic trading at 

approximately 9:54:58.00 

(plus/minus 500 milliseconds). 

2. Supplier shall release the 

certain Data (the "Headline 

Numbers") described in 

Exhibit_ attached hereto, via a 

telephonic conference call in 

which Subscriber may 

participate on or after 9:55:00, 

except that the monthly 

Headline Numbers shall not be 

disclosed on the conference call 

until 9:55:00 or later. 

3. Thomson shall have the right 

to release the Data to its general 

Subscribers other than the 

subscribers in 1 above (i.e. 

generally its terminal base 

subscribers) on or after 9:55:00. 

4. The Data shall be released to 

subscribing re-distributers, the 

general public and the website 

for Supplier and Thomson 

respectively at 10:00:00.6 

        In short, the tiered release of the Data 

provides a "bimonthly release of information to 

'ultra low-latency' subscribers at 2 seconds 



Rosenblum v. Thomson Reuters (Markets) LLC (S.D.N.Y., 2013) 

       - 2 - 

before 9:55 a.m. followed by 'desktop' 

subscribers at 9:55 a.m., followed by release to 

the public at 10:00 a.m."7 

        Rosenblum learned that certain Thomson 

customers were receiving 
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access to the Product results as early as 9:06 

a.m.8 He alleges that the early release of the 

Product to certain subscribers gives those 

subscribers an advantage in making financial 

transactions based on the information.9 In May 

2012, Rosenblum formed the belief that the 

tiered release constituted insider trading. 

        B. Reporting the Violation 

        On May 14, 2012, Richard Curtin, the 

Product's author gave a presentation to Thomson 

employees. When Rosenblum asked if the tiered 

release of the Product results was a Fair 

Disclosure (Regulation FD) violation,10 Curtin 

informed him it was not as the Product was "a 

private business venture and not 

governmental."11 On May 16, 2012, Rosenblum 

alerted Marika Vilen, Global Head of Strategies, 

of his concerns and was told that it was an issue 

for the Thomson desktop sales force, but not for 

him.12 On June 22, 2012, Rosenblum went to his 

supervisor, Rom Ramjug, V.P. of Partnerships, 

to discuss the situation. 
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Ramjug told him to "stop trying to figure out 

what Thomson [was] doing wrong, and close 

more business."13 On June 25, 2012, another 

senior employee told Rosenblum "you are not 

doing yourself any favors by chasing down who 

is getting the numbers ahead of time - this will 

affect Nick's profits, and your bonus."14 

        On June 29, 2013, Rosenblum called the 

FBI to inform them of the early release of the 

Product results to certain consumers at 9:54:59 

a.m. and also sent an email to Thomson's Ethics 

Committee.15 That same day, Rosenblum 

informed Thomson that he had alerted the FBI. 

Between June 29, 2012 and August 3, 2012, 

Rosenblum spoke with his supervisors at 

Thomson as well as with the FBI about his 

conclusion that the early disclosure of the 

Product results violated Section 10b-5 of the 34 

Act and Regulation NMS, "which regulates how 

companies, such as Thomson, share information 

with the public and is meant to ensure equal 

access to that information."16 Rosenblum asserts 

that his reports to the FBI constituted a protected 

act under the DFA. 

        C. Rosenblum Terminated After 

Reporting the Violation 
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        On August 3, 2012, weeks after Rosenblum 

complained to his superiors and alerted the FBI, 

he was terminated from his position with no 

severance pay and without compensation for his 

accrued vacation days.17 Rosenblum maintains 

that before reporting the alleged violation, his 

job performance reviews were always 

exceptional and that he routinely received 

bonuses exceeding $100,000 per year.18 

        Although Thomson maintains that 

Rosenblum was fired based on his improper 

attempts at gaining commissions on sales 

contracts to which he was not entitled, 

Rosenblum believes he was terminated because 

of his reports to the FBI and Thomson's Ethics 

Board.19 Rosenblum argues that the reasons 

given by Thomson for his termination are 

pretextual and issues that Rosenblum himself 

previously brought to the attention of his 

supervisors, but that they had dismissed as not 

problematic.20 Because he reported the alleged 

violation to the FBI and internally at Thomson, 

Rosenblum argues he is a whitleblower within 

the definition of 15 U.S.C. § 78u and that his 

disclosures were a "protected activity" 
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under 15 U.S.C. § 784-6(h)(i)(A)(iii). 

        On April 4, 2013, Rosenblum filed the 

instant action. On August 20, 2013, upon 

retaining new counsel, Rosenblum filed an 

amended complaint. Rosenblum states that as a 
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result of his unlawful termination, he has 

suffered "the loss of a career, and the loss of 

twice his salary, bonuses, benefits, and other 

compensation which employment entails, and 

Plaintiff has also suffered future pecuniary 

losses, emotional pain, physical pain and 

suffering, inconvenience, injury to his 

reputation, loss of enjoyment of life, and other 

non-pecuniary losses."21 

III. APPLICABLE LAW 

        A. Rule 12(b)(6) - Failure to State a 

Claim 

        In deciding a motion to dismiss pursuant to 

Rule 12(b)(6), the court "must accept all non-

conclusory factual allegations as true and draw 

all reasonable inferences in the plaintiff's 

favor."22 The court then "determine[s] whether 

[those allegations] plausibly give rise to an 

entitlement for relief."23 "Threadbare recitals 
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of the elements of a cause of action, supported 

by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice" 

to withstand a motion to dismiss.24 The court 

then "determine[s] whether [those allegations] 

plausibly give rise to an entitlement for relief."25 

A claim should not be dismissed if the plaintiff 

has stated facts sufficient to state a claim to 

relief that is plausible on its face.26 "A claim has 

facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads 

factual content that allows the court to draw the 

reasonable inference that the defendant is liable 

for the misconduct alleged."27 Plausibility "is not 

akin to a probability requirement;" rather, 

plausibility requires "more than a sheer 

possibility that a defendant has acted 

unlawfully."28 

        "In considering a motion to dismiss for 

failure to state a claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), 

a district court may consider the facts alleged in 

the complaint, documents attached to the 

complaint as exhibits, and documents 
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incorporated by reference in the complaint."29 

However, a court may also consider a document, 

not incorporated by reference, "where the 

complaint 'relies heavily upon its terms and 

effect,' thereby rendering the document 'integral' 

to the complaint."30 

IV. DISCUSSION 

        Thomson contends that Rosenblum is not 

covered under the Securities Whistleblower 

Incentives and Protection provisions of the DFA 

because he never contacted the SEC to report 

Thomson's alleged misconduct. The DFA 

provides the following protection against 

whistleblower retaliation: 

No employer may discharge, 

demote, suspend, threaten, 

harass, directly or indirectly, or 

in any other manner 

discriminate against, a 

whistleblower in the terms and 

conditions of employment 

because of any lawful act done 

by the whistleblower-- 

(i) in providing information to 

the Commission in accordance 

with this section; 

(ii) in initiating, testifying in, or 

assisting in any investigation or 

judicial or administrative action 

of the Commission based upon 

or related to such information; 

or 

(iii) in making disclosures that 

are required or protected under 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

(15 U.S.C. 7201 et 
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seq.), this chapter, including 

section 78j-1(m) of this title, 

section 1513(e) of Title 18, and 

any other law, rule, or 

regulation subject to the 

jurisdiction of the 

Commission.31 
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The DFA defines a whistleblower as "any 

individual who provides, or 2 or more 

individuals acting jointly who provide, 

information relating to a violation of the 

securities laws to the Commission, in a manner 

established, by rule or regulation, by the 

Commission."'32 Rosenblum and Thomson 

disagree about how to reconcile the DFA's 

definition of "whistleblower" with the DFA's 

retaliation provision. More specifically, the 

question is whether disclosure to the SEC is 

required in order to qualify for the anti-

retaliation protection of the DFA. 

        A. Statutory Interpretation of the DFA 

Shows Ambiguity 

        In 2011, the SEC formally adopted a rule to 

provide clarity as to the interplay between the 

DFA's definition of whistleblower and the anti-

retaliation provision: 

For purposes of the anti-

retaliation protections afforded 

by Section 21F(h)(1) of the 

Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78u-

6(h)(1)), you are a 

whistleblower if: 

(i) You possess a reasonable 

belief that the information you 

are providing relates to a 

possible securities law violation 

(or, where applicable, to a 

possible violation of the 
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provisions set forth in 18 U.S.C. 

§1514A(a)) that has occurred, is 

ongoing, or is about to occur, 

and; 

(ii) You provide that 

information in a manner 

described in Section 

21F(h)(1)(A) of the Exchange 

Act (15 U.S.C. § 78u-

6(h)(1)(A)). 

(iii) The anti-retaliation 

protections apply whether or not 

you satisfy the requirements, 

procedures and conditions to 

qualify for an award.33 

        To determine whether the SEC's 

interpretation of a statute warrants deference, a 

court applies the two-step process of statutory 

interpretation established by Chevron U.S.A. Inc. 

v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc.34 

The first step inquires "whether Congress has 

directly spoken to the precise question at issue. 

If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end 

of the matter; for the court, as well as the 

agency, must give effect to the unambiguously 

expressed intent of Congress."35 However, if 

"the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect 

to the specific issue," the court applies step two - 

"whether the agency's answer is based on a 

permissible construction of the statute."36 "If the 

agency interpretation is reasonable, then [a 

court] must defer to it."37 

Page 12 

        Thomson contends that because neither the 

Second Circuit nor the Supreme Court have 

addressed the precise issue presented here, this 

Court should follow the Fifth Circuit's decision 

in Asadi v. G.E. Energy (USA), L.L.C.38 In 

Asadi, plaintiff charged his former employer 

with violating the DFA by firing him in 

retaliation for internally reporting a possible 

violation of the securities laws.39 Asadi informed 

his supervisor and his company's regional 

ombudsperson of the suspected violation.40 The 

Court held that Asadi was not a whistleblower 

under the DFA because he did not report the 

possible violation to the SEC.41 The Court 

declined to give deference to the 2011 SEC rule, 

as it determined that Congress's intention to 

limit whistleblower protection to those who 

reported the violation to the SEC was 

unambiguous. Thomson argues that for the 

reasons articulated in Asadi, Rosenblum is not 

entitled to relief because the plain text of the 

statute requires that a whistleblower report a 

suspected violation to the SEC in order to obtain 

protection against retaliation under the Act. 

Rosenblum, in turn, argues that 
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several recent district court decisions, including 

some within the Second Circuit,42 have found 

that Congress did not intend such a narrow 

interpretation of the DFA.43 

        When considering the DFA as a whole, it is 

plain that a narrow reading of the statute 

requiring a report to the SEC conflicts with the 

anti-retaliation provision, which does not have 

such a requirement. Thus, the governing statute 

is ambiguous.44 As a result, it is appropriate to 

consider the SEC's interpretation of the statute.45 

In its comments to the rule, the 

SEC explained further that '[t]he 

second prong of the Rule 21F-

2(b) (1) standard provides that, 

for purposes of the anti-

retaliation protections, an 

individual must provide the 

information in a manner 

described in Section 

21F(h)(1)(A). This change 
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to the rule reflects the fact that 

the statutory anti-retaliation 

protections apply to three 

different categories of 

whistleblowers, and the third 

category includes individuals 

who report to persons or 

governmental authorities other 

than the Commission.'46 

Therefore, the 2011 rule promulgated by the 

SEC, which was given authority by Congress to 

implement the DFA, does not require a report to 

the SEC in order to obtain whistleblower 

protection. 

        B. Applicability of the Sarbanes-Oxley 

Act ("SOX") 

        To obtain relief under the SEC's rule "the 

anti-retaliation whistleblower protection 

provisions of Dodd-Frank require Plaintiff to 

show that he either provided information to the 

SEC or that his disclosures fell under the four 

categories listed in Section 78u-

6(h)(1)(A)(iii)."47 The SOX provides 

whistleblower protection for employees of 

publicly traded companies if 

any officer, employee, 

subcontractor, or agent . . . 

discharge[s], . . . threaten[s], 

[or] harass [es], . . . an employee 

in the terms and conditions of 

employment because of any 

lawful act done by the 

employee— 

(1) to provide information, 

cause information to be 

provided, or otherwise assist in 

an investigation regarding any 

conduct which the employee 

reasonably believes 
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constitutes a violation of any 

rule or regulation of the 

Securities and Exchange 

Commission, or any provision 

of Federal law relating to fraud 

against shareholders, when the 

information or assistance is 

provided to or the investigation 

is conducted by— 

(A) a Federal regulatory or law 

enforcement agency; 

(B) any Member of Congress or 

any committee of Congress; or 

(C) a person with supervisory 

authority over the employee (or 

such other person working for 

the employer who has the 

authority to investigate, 

discover, or terminate 

misconduct). . . .48 

Rosenblum has alleged that he reported the 

violation to both the FBI and internally to his 

supervisors. At this stage, Rosenblum has 

adequately alleged that Thomson's decision to 

terminate him was motivated, in part, by 

reporting the alleged violations that are 

protected by Section 806 of the SOX, and has 

thus plausibly stated a claim under Section 78u-
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6(h)(1)(A)(iii). Accordingly, Thomson's motion 

to dismiss is denied. 

        C. Punitive Damages 

        Finally, Thomson argues that even if its 

motion to dismiss is denied, Rosenblum is not 

entitled to punitive damages under the DFA. The 

DFA provides the following relief under the 

retaliation provision: "reinstatement;" "2 times 

the amount of back pay otherwise owed to the 

individual, with interest;" and 
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"compensation for litigation costs, expert 

witness fees, and reasonable attorneys' fees."49 

Thomson contends that Rosenblum is precluded 

from recovering punitive damages because the 

DFA's anti-retaliation provision does not 

provide for such relief. 

        When interpreting other statutes, courts 

have found that punitive damages are available 

even when not explicitly provided for in the 

statute. However, those statutes provided for 

'special damages' or 'legal relief that the Court 

deems appropriate,' which courts construed to 

include punitive damages.50 
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        Because the DFA neither provides for 

punitive damages nor permits broader relief, 

Rosenblum's claim for such damages is 

dismissed.51 

V. CONCLUSION 

        For the foregoing reasons, Thomson's 

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is 

denied. The Clerk of the Court is directed to 

close the instant motion (Docket No. 19). A 

status conference is scheduled for November 26, 

2013 at 4:30 p.m. 
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        SO ORDERED: 

        ____________________________ 

        Shira A. Scheindlin 

        U.S.D.J. 

Dated: New York, New York 

        October 25, 2013 
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Justin E. Klein, Esq. 

James F. Rittinger, Esq. 

Satterlee Stephens Burke & Burke LLP 
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